

EXPLORING THE EXPERIENCE OF OLDER PEOPLE ON ELDER FINANCIAL EXPLOITATION BY FAMILY MEMBERS IN MALAYSIA



Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August 2022

FEM 2022 34

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

EXPLORING THE EXPERIENCE OF OLDER PEOPLE ON ELDER FINANCIAL EXPLOITATION BY FAMILY MEMBERS IN MALAYSIA

Ву

NURFADHILAH BINTI CHE AMANI @ MOHD KAMAL

August 2022

Chair : Rojanah Bt. Kahar, PhD

Faculty: Human Ecology

Although elder financial exploitation has gained greater attention in the field of elder abuse research, there are still numerous aspects that have been left unexplored. Currently there is no uniformity in definition of financial exploitation of older persons. The complexity of perceptions regarding what constitutes financial exploitation and similar terms across multiple disciplines and authorities has proved to be an obstacle to identifying financial exploitation in the first place and need of framing and conceptualization. Definitions of financial exploitation and explanation for under reporting and help seeking behaviour is necessary to be explored to gain greater understanding in conceptualization elder financial exploitation. This is done through exploring the views of abused elder victims. This will help the authorities and policy makers in understanding the framing of financial exploitation from the unique perspectives of the victims. It will fill the gap created between the definitions in the literature and lived experience of victims.

This study attempted to gain a deep understanding of older Malaysian people's experience on financial exploitation by family members; explore the barriers that hinder them from disclosing such incidents; how older people deal with such incidents. The study was conducted using phenomenology study design via an in-depth interview of eight older adults who were purposively sampled through purposive and snowball approach. The NVivo 12 analysis software was used to perform and analyse the thematic analysis.

Thorough thematic analysis, six major themes were identified to describe the experience of participants with financial exploitation by family members. The participants viewed their financial exploitation experiences as 'harm' and 'exploit'

which is in line with the definition in the literature. The study also discovered how participants felt 'family comes first' and 'helplessness' as main barriers that hinder them from disclosing the incidents to others. This study also explored various ways on how participants responded to their financial exploitation experiences by 'seeking assistance' and 'non-seeking assistance'. Across interviews, participants also described a range of different ecological factors that influenced how participants shaped their view, barriers that hinder disclosure and help seeking behaviour on financial exploitation experience. Based on older people's experience, participants shared on individual factors, interpersonal factors which relates to their perpetrators, interpersonal factors which relates to their social networks and institutional and cultural factors that has influence their perception, underreporting and seeking or non-seeking assistance.

Based on the findings, this study revealed older people are facing difficult decision to strike a balance between individual rights, interdependence on family and family preservation. Although the participants experience financial exploitation similar to the definition given in the literature, they still face difficulties in detection of abuse incidents especially if they are vulnerable and/or influenced by cultures and family values. The participants also revealed they received very little social support from within their family, friends, neighbours, and community, which influenced their likelihood of reporting and seeking help.

This study contributes to existing knowledge with conceptualization of elder financial exploitation by exploring and comparing definitions and explanations of abuse with the existing literatures. From this study, it is important to explore the conceptualization of elder financial exploitation by family members, to understand the occurrence of financial exploitation and the rationale behind how it influenced reporting and help seeking. This study enabled the understanding and framing of elder financial exploitation by family members by inclusion of victims themselves as research participants. It created a bridge between definitions in the literature and perceptions of victims as there has been limited research in Malaysia on victims' perception. Finally, this research proposes several recommendations for change in older people's empowerment, multidisciplinary effort in providing training to professionals as first responders and systemic change within the legal framework in Malaysia.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

MENEROKA PENGALAMAN WARGA EMAS TERHADAP EKSPLOITASI KEWANGAN OLEH AHLI KELUARGA DI MALAYSIA

Oleh

NURFADHILAH BINTI CHE AMANI @ MOHD KAMAL

Ogos 2022

Pengerusi : Rojanah Binti Kahar, PhD

Fakulti : Ekologi Manusia

Walaupun eksploitasi kewangan dalam kalangan orang tua telah mendapat lebih banyak perhatian dalam bidang penyelidikan penderaan orang tua, namun masih terdapat banyak aspek yang belum diterokai. Pada masa ini tiada keseragaman dalam definisi eksploitasi kewangan dalam kalangan orang tua. Kerumitan pemahaman pelbagai persepsi berkenaan pembentukan maksud eksploitasi kewangan dan pelbagai istilah serupa merentasi pelbagai disiplin dan pihak berkuasa telah terbukti menjadi penghalang untuk mengenal pasti eksploitasi kewangan pada mulanya, dan keperluan perangkaan dan konsepsualisasi. Takrif eksploitasi kewangan dan penjelasan bagi tingkah laku kurang pelaporan dan mendapatkan bantuan adalah perlu untuk diterokai untuk mendapatkan pemahaman yang lebih mendalam tentang konsepsualisasi eksploitasi kewangan dalam kalangan warga emas. Ini dilakukan melalui penerokaan menurut pandangan mangsa orang tua. Ini akan membantu pihak berkuasa dan penggubal dasar dalam memahami rangka eksploitasi kewangan daripada perspektif unik mangsa. Ia akan mengisi jurang yang dicipta antara definisi dalam literatur dan pengalaman hidup mangsa.

Kajian ini cuba mendapatkan pemahaman yang mendalam tentang pengalaman warga emas di Malaysia mengenai eksploitasi kewangan oleh ahli keluarga; meneroka halangan yang menghalang mereka daripada mendedahkan kejadian sedemikian; dan cara orang tua menangani kejadian sebegini. Kajian ini dijalankan menggunakan reka bentuk kajian fenomenologi melalui temu bual mendalam terhadap lapan orang dewasa yang telah diambil secara persampelan melalui pendekatan persampelan bertujuan dan bola salji. Perisian analisis NVivo 12 digunakan untuk melaksanakan dan menganalisis analisis tematik.

Enam tema utama telah dikenal pasti untuk menggambarkan pengalaman peserta tentang eksploitasi kewangan oleh ahli keluarga. Para peserta melihat pengalaman eksploitasi kewangan mereka sebagai 'memudaratkan' dan eksploitasi' yang selaras dengan definisi dalam literatur. Kajian ini juga menemui bagaimana peserta merasakan 'keluarga didahulukan' dan 'ketidakberdayaan' sebagai halangan utama yang menghalang mereka daripada mendedahkan insiden itu kepada orang lain. Kajian ini juga meneroka pelbagai cara bagaimana peserta bertindak balas terhadap pengalaman eksploitasi kewangan mereka dengan 'mencari bantuan' dan 'tidak mencari bantuan'. Sepanjang temu bual, peserta juga menerangkan pelbagai faktor ekologi berbeza yang mempengaruhi cara peserta membentuk pandangan mereka, halangan yang menghalang pendedahan dan mendapatkan bantuan mengenai pengalaman eksploitasi kewangan. Berdasarkan pengalaman, peserta berkongsi tentang faktor individu, faktor interpersonal yang berkaitan dengan pelaku, faktor interpersonal yang berkaitan dengan rangkaian sosial mereka, faktor institusi dan budaya yang mempengaruhi persepsi mereka, kurang pelaporan dan mencari atau tidak mencari bantuan.

Berdasarkan penemuan, kajian ini mendedahkan orang tua menghadapi keputusan sukar untuk mencapai keseimbangan antara hak individu, saling bergantung pada keluarga dan pemeliharaan keluarga. Walaupun, peserta mengalami eksploitasi kewangan seperti definisi yang diberikan dalam literatur, mereka masih menghadapi kesukaran dalam mengesan insiden penderaan terutamanya jika mereka terdedah dan/atau dipengaruhi oleh budaya dan nilai keluarga. Peserta juga mendedahkan bahawa mereka menerima sedikit sokongan sosial daripada keluarga, rakan, jiran dan komuniti, yang mempengaruhi kebarangkalian mereka melaporkan dan mendapatkan bantuan.

Kajian ini menyumbang kepada pengetahuan sedia ada dengan konsepsualisasi eksploitasi kewangan orang tua oleh ahli keluarga dengan meneroka dan membandingkan definisi dan penjelasan penderaan dengan literatur sedia ada. Hasil kajian ini adalah penting untuk meneroka konsep eksploitasi kewangan oleh ahli keluarga, untuk memahami kejadian eksploitasi kewangan dan juga rasional di sebalik bagaimana ia mempengaruhi pelaporan dan mendapatkan bantuan. Kajian ini membolehkan pemahaman dan perangkaan eksploitasi kewangan orang tua oleh ahli keluarga dengan menjadikan mangsa sendiri sebagai peserta penyelidikan. Ia mewujudkan jambatan antara definisi dalam literatur dan persepsi mangsa kerana terdapat kajian terhad di Malaysia mengenai persepsi mangsa. Akhir sekali, penyelidikan ini mencadangkan beberapa cadangan untuk perubahan berkaitan dengan pemerkasaan orang tua, usaha pelbagai bidang dalam menyediakan latihan kepada profesional sebagai responden pertama dan perubahan sistemik dalam rangka perundangan di Malaysia.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the name of Allah, Most Gracious, Most Merciful. First and foremost, my utmost gratitude to the Almighty God for His Blessings and Guidance without which I would not have managed to complete my study.

I would like to extend my heart felt appreciation to Dr.Rojanah binti Kahar, my supervisor, for her guidance, support and faith that she has given me throughout my doctoral studies. I am also grateful to my supervisory committee, Associate Prof. Dr. Rahimah binti Ibrahim and Dr. Muslihah binti Hasbullah for their continuing encouragement and confidence in me especially when I was feeling vulnerable. I would also like to express my gratitude to Prof. Dato' Dr. Tengku Aizan binti Tengku Ab. Hamid who has provided me further insight into the world of ageing research and Dr. Nur Aira Abd. Rahim for her guidance in developing my research design.

Thank you to the staff of Jabatan Kebajikan Masyarakat, Seremban, and staff at the aged care facilities involved in this research for your cooperation and assistance during my data collection process. I would also like to express my appreciation and gratitude to all older adults with whom I worked on this study. They have endured great adversity, but their willingness to share their most intimate thoughts and emotions have aided and assisted me in completing my study. I cannot express my gratitude enough.

To my support system in Faculty Syariah and Law, USIM, especially to the KRUWARGAs, Dr. Dina, Dr. Adzidah, Dr. Abidah, Dr. Hendun, and Dr. Suraiya. Thank you for everything. Not forgetting Dr. Fadhlina and Dr. Syaryanti, thank you for always checking in on me.

Many thanks to Mak, Pn Maznah Ab. Rahman, and Ayah, Dr. Mohd Kamal Amani Bin Mohd Ali, and the rest of the family members for their never ending duas and support throughout my academic journey. Finally, I would like to thank my better half, Saiful Asyraf Bin Kamaludin and my sons, Faiz and Wafeeq for all the warm and fuzzy hugs when I needed them the most.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Rojanah Binti Kahar, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Rahimah Binti Ibrahim, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Muslihah Binti Hasbullah @ Abdullah, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 13 April 2023

Declaration by the Graduate Student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and the copyright of the thesis are fullyowned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as stipulated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from the supervisor and the office of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before the thesis is published in any written, printed or electronic form (including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials) as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld in accordance with the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2015-2016) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software

Signature:	Date:	_
Name and Matric No.	: NURFADHILAH BINTI CHE AMANI,	_

Declaration by Members of the Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research and the writing of this thesis were done under our supervision;
- supervisory responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2015-2016) are adhered to.

Signature: Name of		
Chairman of		
Supervisory		
Committee:	Rojanah Bt. Kahar	
Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory		
Committee:	Rahimah Binti Ibrahim	
Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory	Musikah Disti Hashullah @ Ahdullah	
Committee:	Muslihah Binti Hasbullah@ Abdullah	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
ABSTRAGABSTRAGACKNOWAPPROVEDECLARAGEST OF ALIST	K /LEDGE AL ATION TABLES ABBRE\	; /IATIONS	i iii v vi viii xiii xiv xv
CHAPTE			Ä
	IN ITTO O	Supress A	
1		DUCTION	1
	1.1 1.2	Research Background	1
	1.2	Conceptualisation and Underreporting of Financial Exploitation of Older People	3
	1.3	Problem Statement	4
	1.4	Purpose and Research Questions of the Study	6
	1.5	Conceptual Definition and Framing of Financial	Ū
		Exploitation	6
		1.5.1 Relationship where there is an expectation of	
		trust	7
		1.5.2 Illegal/ Improper	8
	1.6	Operational Definitions	9
	1.7	Significance of the Study	10
	1.8	Scope of the Study	11
	1.9	Limitations of the Study	11
2	LITER	ATURE REVIEW	13
_	2.1	Demographic Transition and Financial Exploitation in	13
	2.1	Malaysia	13
	2.2	Prevalence of Financial Exploitation of Older People in	
		Malaysia	13
	2.3	Overview of Aging Policies and Legislation on Elder	
		Abuse in Malaysia	15
	2.4	Old Age Definition	17
	2.5	Theoretical Explanations	17
		2.5.1 Symbolic Interaction Theory	17
		2.5.2 Human Ecology Theory	19
	2.6	Conceptualization of Financial Exploitation	20
		2.6.1 Early concepts	20
		2.6.2 Systematic Frameworks and Models	22
	2.7	2.6.3 Older People's Views Barriers Impeding Disclosure and Help Seeking	23 28
	۷.1	2.7.1 Older People's Perception of Abuse	28 28

		2.7.3		29 31
		2.7.4	Lack of awareness of available services and	22
	2.8	Source	support system s of Help	32 33
	2.0		Formal Source of Help	33
		2.8.2	Informal Source of Help	34
	2.9	Summa	·	35
_				20
3		ODOLO		36
	3.1 3.2	Introdu	i of Qualitative Research	36 36
	3.2		ophical Assumption and Interpretive Framework	30
	5.5	FIIIOSC	philical Assumption and interpretive Framework	37
	3.4	Phenor	menological Approach to Research Design	39
	0.1	3.4.1	Transcendental Phenomenology	40
		3.4.2	Epoche	41
	3.5		on of Participants	41
		3.5.1		41
		3.5.2		
			Site	44
	3.6	Forms	of Data and Procedure	45
	3.7		collection Procedure	46
	3.8	Data A	•	49
	3.9	Audit T		55
	3.10	-	and Reliability of Research	55
	3.11		tive Journal	57
	3.12	Summa	ary	59
4	FINDII	NGS AN	D DISCUSSION	60
•	4.1	Introdu		60
	4.2	Epoche		60
	4.3		graphic Characteristics	61
	4.4		al Description	64
			Rose	64
		4.4.2	Carl	66
		4.4.3	Chris	68
		4.4.4	Arjuna	69
		4.4.5	Farra	70
		4.4.6	Anggun	71
		4.4.7	Arida	73
		4.4.8	Elly	75
	4.5		Iral Descriptions	76
		4.5.1	Older People's Views on Financial	77
		450	Exploitation Experience	77
		4.5.2	Barriers That Impede Disclosure and Help Seeking	100
		4.5.3	Help Seeking	121
		7.0.0	riolp Cooking	141

	4.6	Ecological Influences on Financial Exploitation Experience 4.6.1 Individual factors 4.6.2 Interpersonal factors: Family members (Perpetrators) 4.6.3 Interpersonal factors: Social Supports 4.6.4 Interpersonal/ Institutional Factors: Reporting Mechanism	138 138 141 142 143
	4.7	Summary	144
5	5.1 5.2 5.3	ARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS Summary Conclusions Contributions of Current Study 5.3.1 Theoretical Implications 5.3.2 Practical Implications	146 146 148 150 151
	5.4	Recommendations Future Research	157
	5.5	Future Research	159
REFEREN APPENDIO BIODATA LIST OF P	CES OF STU		160 178 199 200

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	The Prevalence of Financial Abuse and Exploitation across Countries	2
1.2	Common Examples of Financial Exploitation Described in the Literature	8
3.1	Interpretative Frameworks and Associated Philosophical Assumptions	39
3.2	Probes Used in Semi-structured Interviews	47
3.3	Interview Procedure	48
3.4	The Data Analysis Spiral Activities, Strategies and Outcomes	51
3.5	Validation Strategies Used in This Study	57
4.1	Summary of Demographic Data for the Study	62
4.2	Summary of Textural Descriptions	63
4.3	Outline of Research Questions and Findings	137

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASB Amanah Saham Berhad

ECAQ Elderly Cognitive Assessment Questions

EPF Employee provident fund

MWF Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development

PIN Personal identification number

SI Symbolic interactions

US United States

USB Universal serial bus

WHO World Health Organization

LIST OF APPENDICES

		Page
Α	The Elderly Cognitive Assessment Questionnaire (ECAQ)	178
В	Participant Audit Trail	179
С	Interview Protocol	180
D	Consent Form	187
E	Audit Trail	195

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Research Background

According to the World Health Organization (WHO,2021), 15.7% of adults aged 60 years and older had been subjected to some type of abuse (WHO, 2021). Based on a meta-analysis study in 2016 on elder abuse frequency in community settings, from 52 studies spanning from 24 high income nations, financial abuse of older person in community settings is second most common form of abuse (6.8%) after psychological abuse (11.6%) (WHO, 2021). acknowledged in global prevalence research that identified financial exploitation abuse as one of the common form of elder abuse (Yon et al., 2017; Mihalicic & Lowndes, 2013; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2012) and has increased during the COVID 19 pandemic (WHO, 2021; Du & Chen, 2021; Chang & Levy, 2021; Rina, Maiti, Panigrahi, Patro, Kar & Padhi, 2020). Although evidence on prevalence of elder abuse in low and middle income countries is still scarce, due to demographic transition, countries in south east Asia and Africa have higher rates of elder abuse (Yon et. al. 2017). Malaysia's statistic on overall lifetime prevalence of financial abuse was 1 in 20 among rural community-dwelling people in Malaysia and if strangers are considered perpetrators, the incidence might be as high as 1 in 10 (Yunus et. al., 2017). Elder abuse is likely to increase as a result of many countries' rapidly aging populations (WHO, 2021). Globally, the population of adults aged 60 years or older increased from 900 million in 2015 to 2 billion in 2016, with the majority of the older population being in lowand middle-income nations. With the present demographic transition towards population aging, the WHO anticipates that the number of victims of elder abuse might reach over 320 million by the year 2050, assuming the current rate of abuse continues unchanged (WHO, 2019, p. 1).

Throughout the literature, it is accepted that elder financial abuse is a complicated social issue that is widespread in society due to many factors (Tan et al., 2020; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2012). Adding to the complexity of the relationship between victim and perpetrators—which may include family members, professional caregivers, friends, neighbours and strangers (Mohideen & KhoKhlova, 2022; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2015; Petrusic, 2015), financial abuse occurs primarily behind closed doors (Schuessler, 2022; Jackson, 2016) sometimes, with no visible physical signs or symptoms. Only around 1 in every 24 occurrences of elder abuse is reported (Yon et al., 2017). The complexity of financial exploitation of elders is also evident in the diverse understandings and conceptualisations among victims, perpetrators, community members and multidisciplinary professionals of what constitutes abuse (Lee et al., 2014; Gibson & Greene, 2013; Gilhooly et al., 2013; Golding et al., 2013; Manthorpe et al., 2012; Conrad et al., 2011; Lee & Eaton, 2009; Sanchez, 1997).

The effect of financial exploitation on an elderly victim has a broader influence along a continuum. It may begin with an innocent financial misappropriation and progress to increased deprivation of the money or property of older adults (Jackson & Hafemeister, 2011), self-neglect and emotional abuse (Mardan et al., 2014), all of which can result in embarrassment, stigma and psychological trauma (Rabiner et al., 2006). Elderly victims of financial exploitation may be unable to live freely or afford long-term care (Schuessler,2022; Rabiner et al., 2006). As Yunus et al. (2017) note, the consequences of elder financial exploitation include mortality in some extreme cases.

Table 1.1 summarises the literature on the prevalence of financial abuse and exploitation across countries. Prevalence estimates often differ significantly between studies because of differences in methodologies, definitions, age cutoffs and study populations (Fraga et al., 2019).

Table 1.1: The Prevalence of Financial Abuse and Exploitation across Countries

	The state of the s		
Source	Country/region	Prevalence overall elder abuse (%)	Prevalence financial abuse (%)
	North and South America		
Chang & Levy (2021)	United States (US)	21.3	7.5
Giraldo-Rodriguez et al. (2015)	Mexico	32.1	11.9
	Europe		
Filipska et al. (2021)	Poland	-	36.8
Gil et al. (2015)	Portugal	12.3	6.3
	Africa		
Pillemer et al. (2016)	Nigeria		13.1
	Middle East and Asia		
Du & Chen (2021)	China	15.4	6.24
Chompunud et al. (2010)	Thailand	14.6	20.6
Sembiah et al. (2020)	India	-	30.1
Jeon et al. (2019)	Korea	9.9	0.3
Chokkanathan (2018)	Singapore	8.3	1.5
Sooryanarayana et al. (2017)	Malaysia	4.5	2.0
Yunus et al. (2017)	Malaysia	8.1	4.8

Based on Table 1.1, Sooryanarayana et al., (2017) conducted the first community-based study on elder abuse in Malaysia with 2112 community dwellers using multistage sampling from the Malaysian National census while Yunus et al., (2017) conducted population based cohort study with a multistage cluster sampling method in the state of Kuala Pilah with 1927 respondents. Both studies have shown prevalence of financial abuse in Malaysia and underestimation may be possible due to under reporting.

1.2 Conceptualisation and Underreporting of Financial Exploitation of Older People

There is no single definition of financial abuse or exploitation in the literature. The WHO's usual definition of 'financial abuse' is 'the illegal or improper use of an older person's cash or other resources' (2002, p. 3). International non-governmental organisations such as the National Committee for the Prevention of Elder Abuse (NCPEA, 2001), concentrate on financial abuse-related activity or behaviour. This may involve stealing money or property, forging a signature, coercing or tricking an elderly person into signing a legal instrument, or unauthorised use of an elderly person's property or possessions (Jackson & Hafemeister, 2013). The diversity of definitions of financial exploitation across many disciplines demonstrates the issue's complexity; for example, elder abuse is considered a social concern, a crime, a public health problem and subject to criminal justice (Kaspiew et al., 2016a; Conrad et al., 2011).

There is even greater complexity when victims' and perpetrators' perspectives contradict one another, such that the knowledge and conceptualisation of financial exploitation remain perplexing (Mohideen & Khokhlova, 2022; Wendt et. al., 2015; Rabiner et al., 2005). According to the growing body of evidence, older people's perspectives on and understanding of elder abuse is limited (Burnes et al., 2017; Killicks et al., 2015; Erlingsson et al., 2005). Research indicates that older adults have difficulty recognising abusive behaviours, and in most cases, their perception does not align with professional definitions, resulting in underreporting (Gils et al., 2017; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2015; Lafferty et al., 2013 Tamutiene et al., 2013). Additionally, while understanding of financial abuse has improved in recent years, very few studies have examined and discussed financial elder abuse from the perspective of victims (Cadmus et al., 2015; Bagshaw et al., 2013; Erlingsson et al., 2005), and even fewer have examined victim conceptualisation, particularly in the Asian region (Tan et al., 2020; Lee & Eaton, 2009). This creates a variety of problems in the extent to which the elderly population, particularly victims in Malaysia, understands elder financial exploitation. According to research, Asian older people in low income countries are less likely to view mistreatment as abuse than older population from Western countries (Mohideen & Khokhlova, 2022; Tan et al., 2020; Yon et. al., 2017), owing to their cultural context, interpersonal ties and frequently culturally constructed beliefs (Mohideen & Khokhlova, 2022; Tan et al., 2020; Yan et al., 2015).

The perceptions and attitudes of older adults regarding financial abuse are undoubtedly a factor in facilitating help-seeking behaviour (Fraga et al., 2019: Lafferty et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2011; Tamutiene et al., 2013). The five studies included in a systematic review conducted by Fraga et al. (2019) found that older adults' perceptions of abuse were a barrier to them seeking help in abusive situations (Gil et al., 2017; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2015; Lafferty et al., 2013; Mowlam et al., 2007; Tamutiene et al., 2013). As a result of victims' misperceptions and understandings, an increasing proportion of elder abuse incidents go unreported (Acierno et al., 2018; Fraga et al., 2019; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2015; Lafferty et al., 2013; Miskovski, 2014). There are other numerous factors contribute to the underreporting of financial exploitation. This includes incidents that occur in private settings (Bagshaw, 2013; Jackson & Hafemeister, 2011; Kaspiew et al., 2016; Miskovski, 2014), the dynamic relationship between victim and perpetrator (Jackson & Hafemeister, 2015; Miskovski, 2014; Met Life Study, 2010) and complications in reporting mechanisms (Fraga et al., 2019; Gibson, 2013; Miskovi, 2014). Understanding victims' experiences enables the development of more effective intervention tactics and the establishment of more supportive policies and environments that encourage help seeking in the community (Fraga et al., 2019; Fraga et al., 2021).

1.3 Problem Statement

Although elder financial exploitation has gained greater attention in the field of elder abuse research, there are no recent empirical data on elder financial exploitation in Malaysia. Based on a longitudinal study conducted in 2016, data showed 13% of elder community dwellers experienced financial exploitation. In addition to the low reporting of incidents, there are still numerous aspects that have been left unexplored. Currently there is no uniformity in definition of financial exploitation of older persons. Past studies show financial exploitation of older people is a complex issue with ongoing debate in relation to its definition (Gilhooly et al., 2013; Manthorpe et al., 2012 Conrad et al., 2011) especially if it involves family members (Ai Tan et al., 2020; Lee at al., 2014; Lee & Eaton, 2009). This is in line with the literature when professionals from various disciplines adopts myriad of definitions though most of them share similar common themes (Jackson & Hafeimester 2015; Conrad, 2011; Rabiner et al., 2005). Nevertheless, one of the most commonly used definitions is the definition given by the World Health Organization that emphasizes on 'illegal or improper exploitation or use of funds' of the older persons (WHO, 2002). Another definition that is commonly used in Malaysia is the Domestic Violence Act 1994, that confines financial abuse as causing mischief or damage to property with the intent or knowledge of causing distress or annoyance to the victims (Yusoff & Bidin, 2015).

A variety of definitions on financial exploitations currently found in the literature created complexity and definitional disparity. Perceptions and views of victims of elder financial exploitation involved and the possible implications for underreporting are not known. Evidence shows that abused victims and non-

abused may not share similar views as to what constitute abuse (Eriksson & Ulmestig, 2017; Lee et al., 2014; Gibson & Greene, 2013; Golding et al., 2013). Majority of older people believed financial exploitation are influenced by traditional practice and belief system in the family (Chane Adamek, 2015; Milhaljsic & Lowndes, 2013). The perception of older people may also depend on the situational factors and level of knowledge of abuse (Knight et al., 2016; Dong et al., 2011).

In the context of Malaysia, we have seen research focusing on perspectives of professionals and non-abuse general population on elder financial exploitation but there are limited studies that included the perception of victims themselves (Tan et al., 2020; Sooryanarayana et al., 2017). While non-abused older people perceived financial abuse as an act of deceived that may cause harm and violation of rights and may only happened to wealthy older individual (Ai Tan et al., 2020), it is not known whether victims share the same view.

The complexity of perceptions regarding what constitutes financial exploitation across multiple disciplines and authorities has proved to be an obstacle to identifying financial exploitation in the first place and need of framing and conceptualization. Definitions of financial exploitation and explanation for under reporting is necessary to be explored to conceptualise and understand elder financial exploitation. Therefore, it is critical that this study answers how financial exploitation of older persons is defined from the perspectives of older people. This is done through exploring the views of abused elder victims. It will assist the authorities and policy makers in understanding the framing of financial exploitation from the unique perspectives of the victims. It will fill the gap created between the definitions in the literature and lived experience of victims.

Moreover, there are a limited number of studies that focus on barriers that influence reporting of financial exploitation by family members. According to the literature, contrary to professionals and non-abused, victims perceived abuse differently and therefore may find it difficult to detect and report abusive situations. Factors such as family impediment, cultural and religious barriers and individual perceptions influence help seeking behaviour (Mysuk, 2016; Jackson & Hafeimester, 2015; Lafferty, 2013). In Malaysia, lack of mandatory reporting, insufficient training of professionals to identify abuse cases and non-integration between agencies contributed to the underreporting (Yunus et al., 2017). The indications on help seeking behaviour that depends on the extend of abuse, cultural sensitivities and the nature of relationship with the perpetrators (Acierno et al., 2018; Gil et al., 2017; Petrusic et al, 2015; Tamutiene et al., 2013), require in depth qualitative study with the victims could shed a light on this interaction (Mohideen & Khokhlova, 2022; Tan et al., 2020; Bidin & Mohd Yusoff, 2015). This study aims to explore and gain a deeper understanding of victims' decisions to disclose or refrain from reporting. The input from this study shall allow policy makers to understand how reporting behaviour has influenced the victim's decision, choice of reporting and coping strategy of older victims.

To bridge this gap, this study provided the victims with an opportunity to share their experience of financial exploitation by family members and the challenges that influenced their help-seeking behaviour. Despite the limited literature on elder financial abuse in Malaysia, reports have revealed the prevalence of such incidents in the community and limited phenomenological methods have been used to explore this social phenomenon from the perspective of the victims, the barriers to disclosing and their help-seeking behaviour. This study attempted to gain a deep understanding of older Malaysian people's experience on financial exploitation by family members; explore the barriers that hinder them from disclosing such incidents; understand how reporting behaviour is influenced by their views and choices of reporting and coping strategy.

1.4 Purpose and Research Questions of the Study

The main purpose of this study was to explore incidents of financial exploitation by family members from the perspectives and experiences of abused older people in Malaysia. The research questions addressed were:

- How do older people view their experience of financial exploitation by family members?
- 2. What are the barriers faced by older people that prevent them disclosing and seeking help for financial exploitation?
- 3. How do older people deal with financial exploitation by family members?

The specific objectives of the study were to:

- explore perspectives of older people on their experience of financial exploitation by family members;
- identify barriers faced by older people that prevent them disclosing and seeking help;
- explore experiences of help-seeking behaviour among older people in financial exploitation cases involving family members.

1.5 Conceptual Definition and Framing of Financial Exploitation

In developing the main concept of this study, the researcher used the definition of the WHO as a starting point to define elder abuse. "Elder abuse is a single, or repeated act, or lack of appropriate action, occurring within any relationship where there is an expectation of trust which causes harm or distress to an older person" (WHO, 2002). The researcher extended the concept by adopting the definition of financial abuse by WHO as "the illegal or improper exploitation of

funds or other resources of older persons' (2002, p.3). All concepts, however, were open, that depends on how the participants conceptualized the concepts.

Based on the above, a relationship of trust necessarily implies that harm is done by people the older person knows or with whom they have a relationship, such as a spouse, partner or family member, a friend or neighbor, or people that the older person relied on for services, support or help (WHO, 2002). Despite this broad and wide definition, this concept of 'trust relationship' in this study only confine to 'family members, include nuclear and extended family and further exclude financial exploitation committed outside any trust relationship such as strangers or incidental criminal behavior. The study will also make a comparative analysis with the Malaysian Domestic Violence Act 1994 that prohibits any form of family violence or abuse between older parents, relatives and adult children as well as other family members. In the context of financial abuse of older people, this falls under the definition of 'causing mischief or destruction or damage to property with the intent or knowledge of causing distress or annovance to the victim', including (1) dishonestly misappropriating the victim's property, causing the victim distress because of financial loss; or (2) threatening the victim with the intent to cause the victim to fear for his or her safety or the safety of his property. to fear for the safety of a third person, or to suffer distress'

1.5.1 Relationship where there is an expectation of trust

This study explores financial exploitation of older adults that has a trust relationship with perpetrator. Trust implies the expectation and some degree of confidence that the other person will behave as agreed upon (Goergen & Beaulieu, 2013). For this study, relationships with the expectation of trust are considered as such on the basis of victim's perspectives and the quality of victim's relationship with family members which include nuclear and extended family.

Trust is often linked to dependency and vulnerability. Older people who are in trust relationship with the perpetrator whom experienced increased dependency on the perpetrator can be more vulnerable to their action (Kemp and Masqueda ,2005). Once the trust is broken, the older person may feel powerless to discontinue this negative relationship due to fear, kinship bonds, threat of being abandoned or placed in a residential care (Rabiner et al., 2005, Phelan, 2020). Within a family relationship, studies demonstrate that the most common single perpetrator of financial exploitation is the older person's child. This is common when adult children feel entitled to the older parents' assets due to inheritance rights, or the older person can simply afford to lose/ give away the money or property (Phelan, 2013). Apart from older children, the trust relationship is extended to nuclear family and extended family depending on the quality of relationship and how the relationship is rendered exploitative. A trust relationship is rendered exploitative when there is undue influence, power imbalance due to

dependency and the nature of obtaining money or assets which does not benefit the older person (Conrad, 2011, Rabiner et al. 2005; Schiamberg & Gans, 2000).

1.5.2 Illegal/ Improper

The understanding of illegal and improper exploitation of funds can be broad and wide. Different families and cultures have different norms regarding what constitutes improper dealings or transaction of funds and assets across generations. For this study, illegal and improper is considered an open concept that is fluid and changing on the basis of the empirical data collected to incorporate how it was perceived, defined and explained and experienced by different participants of the study.

To guide the study, the researcher uses common examples of illegal or improper use of an older person's funds or resources which causes harm or distress to older persons as described in the literature. As a result, the researcher chose not to limit the experience of the victim to a particular form of financial exploitation.

Table 1.2 : Common Examples of Financial Exploitation Described in the Literature

Item	Common examples of illegal or improper use of an older person's funds/resources
1	Theft
2	Misappropriation or misuse of money, property or assets
3	Exerting undue influence to give away assets or gifts
4	Putting undue pressure on the older person to accept lower-cost/lower-quality services to preserve more financial resources to be passed to beneficiaries on death
5	Carrying out unnecessary work and/or overcharging for services
6	Misuse of powers of attorneys
7	Denial of access to funds
8	Failure to repay loans
9	Living with the older person and refusing to contribute money for expenses
10	Forging or forcing an older person's signature
11	Promising long-term care in exchange for money or property and then not providing the promised care
12	Getting an older person to sign a will, contract or power of attorney through deception, coercion or undue influence

Table 1.2: Continued

Item	Common examples of illegal or improper use of an older person's funds/resources
13	Abusing joint signatory authority on a blank form
14	Getting an older person to be a guarantor for a loan where the benefit of the loan is for someone else without sufficient information or knowledge to make an informed decision.
15	Family members living with older persons who refuse to pay rent or coerced older person to take care of grandchildren without payment.

Note. [Lowndes et al. (2009); Rabiner, O'keefe and Brown (2008)]

1.6 Operational Definitions

The following definitions were used for the purposes of this study:

- Financial exploitation. This study explored any incident relating to abuse or exploitation based on definition given by the World Health Organization and Domestic Violence Act 1994 or other illegal or improper act of abuse that has been reported in the literature including but not limited to the examples given in Table 1.2.
- **Experience.** Views on financial exploitation, barriers for reporting and dealing with the incidents.
- Older people. The older people in this research were aged 60 years or above, had financial resources, were not suffering from any cognitive impairment, had experienced financial exploitation by family member(s)/relative(s) and met all inclusion criteria as stated in item 3.5.1 in Chapter 3.
- **Family members.** A member(s) of a family or relative(s) including nuclear and extended member of the family, including across generation that has a trust relationship with victims, excluding third party perpetrators such as strangers, scam or opportunistic abuse.
- Transcendental phenomenology. For this research a 'transcendental phenomenology' approach was chosen where the focus was less on the interpretation of the researcher and more on the description of the experiences of participants. The understanding and experience of financial exploitation within family settings from the viewpoint of older people was explored and analysed.

1.7 Significance of the Study

The significance of this study is that it provides an understanding to the current body of knowledge on conceptualization of elder financial exploitation by exploring and comparing victim's definitions of abuse with the existing literatures. This study provides insight on why older persons particularly victims had difficulty in identifying an act of abuse in the context of family setting. This study further enables the understanding and framing of elder financial exploitation by family members by inclusion of victims themselves as research participants. It created a bridge between definitions in the literature which mostly provided by the professionals and perceptions of victims as there has been limited research in Malaysia. This study highlighted individual factors of the victim that contributed to their perceptions, conceptualization and framing of elder abuse by family members. This will assist policy makers and authorities to further enhance policy and legislations.

The study also drew attention to exploration of barriers that were identified by victims. This has provided great insight as factors that needed further investigations in their explanations for the underreporting of abuse and their coping mechanism. This study emphasised the importance of advocacy and empowering older people through education, as an effective measure to address the individual factors that lead to under reporting. This study believes Malaysian authorities from multidisciplinary agencies need to increase their presence in the community by providing training to members from multidisciplinary agencies such as health and banking and social workers to be an expert in detecting an elder financial abuse. These trained professionals and support services must not only be constantly present but continue to make engagements with older population for advocacy to increase effort in detecting, reporting, recovery of assets and rebuilding lives of victims as a consequence of reporting.

This study believes strongly in considering views of victims, that were previously not taken into account, in effort for conceptualization of financial exploitation and continuation of abuse and their explanation for underreporting and coping mechanism. By analysing perspectives of older persons, it provides in depth understanding and framing of financial exploitation from the victims' perspective themselves. This enables closer convergence between those of victims and how they fit in the literature. This will add new knowledge to the existing literature in understanding and developing frameworks to address elder financial exploitation the experience. It also contributes to a practical step forward, as it allows the opportunity to consider and implement these perspectives in practices of prevention and intervention.

A recommendation by academics and advocates that parliament enact special legislation dedicated to older people in Malaysia was received positively by the Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development (Palansamy, 2019). Although there is currently no insight regarding the areas on which the law will

focus, the general idea is to provide an effective legal framework for the protection and wellbeing of older people. Based on the study, the findings revealed how intra family financial mismanagement is a complex issue in the society. Effective legislation should focus on meeting the needs of the victims by considering the challenges and barriers that they faced in dealing with the situation. The findings of this study can be used in developing strategies for prevention and intervention framework to address this issue. It is hoped that the long-term implications of this study will include effective implementation of preventive and intervention mechanisms for financial exploitation professionals in multiple fields such as medical, financial institutions, legal and social welfare.

1.8 Scope of the Study

This study sought to develop a deep understanding of the experiences of older people and their help-seeking behaviour in relation to financial exploitation by family members. This understanding was sought through an analysis of the views of abused older people regarding their experiences of living with financial exploitation, and their challenges in detecting and seeking help, and in dealing with the incidents. This study collected the views of older people through in-depth interviews as the main instrument for data collection. The participants in the study were older people dwelling in communities and institutionalised settings in Peninsular Malaysia. The older people selected to participate were those who had experienced any form of financial exploitation at least once in their lifetime.

1.9 Limitations of the Study

The main limitation of qualitative research compared with quantitative research is that the results cannot be generalised. Based on the results of this study, the researcher believes that the experience would differ if the same study were to be conducted in a different locality or with older people of different contexts and backgrounds. This study focused only on developing a qualitative in-depth understanding of older people exploring financial exploitation within the family setting, and of those who could converse fluently in Bahasa Melayu and English. The results will not be representative of older Malaysians with different backgrounds in localities other than the population sampled in this study. The results of this study may provide useful information for policy makers, legislators and relevant authorities at the macro level regarding how older people give meaning to financial exploitation, their experiences and how they deal with such incidents. This study also only focuses on gaining the perspective of victims. It is critical that future study should conduct in depth investigation on how professionals and family members define financial exploitation in Malaysia. This will add to the growing body of knowledge on how Malaysian conceptualize elder financial exploitation as an effort to widening the context and find a comprehensive and fitting definition to suits the reality. Elder financial exploitation is a complex phenomenon and it involves many variables which conceptualization cannot be achieved through just exploring victims' perspectives.



REFERENCES

- Abu-Ras, W. M. (2003). Barriers to services for Arab immigrant battered women in a Detroit suburb. *Journal of Social Work Research & Evaluation*, 4, 49–66.
- Ai, C. T. J., Yuen, C. W., Hairi, N. N., & Hamid, M. A. I. A. (2020). Voices of older adults: Understanding the meaning of elder financial abuse and exploitation in a Malaysian rural community. ASM Science Journal, 13(Special Issue 5), 156–161.
- Abd Halim, N. H. (2020, July 23). Kes Dera Ibu Bapa Naik 20% Musim PKP. Retrieved June 25, 2021, from file:///C:/Users/Acer/Downloads/STATISTIC%20FOR%20RESEARCH/ Kes%20dera%20ibu%20bapa%20naik%2020%25%20musim%20PKP %20-%20Utusan%20Digital.html.
- Abd Mutalib, Z. (2021, October 6). Kpwkm selesai kajian gubal Akta Warga Emas. *BH Online*. Retrieved January 13, 2022, from https://www.bharian.com.my/berita/nasional/2021/10/873103/kpwkm-selesai-kajian-gubal-akta-warga-emas.
- Acierno, R., Hernandez, M. A., Amstadter, A. B., Resnick, H. S., Steve, K., Muzzy, W., & Kilpatrick, D. G. (2010). Prevalence and correlates of emotional, physical, sexual, and financial abuse and potential neglect in the United States: The National Elder Mistreatment Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(2), 292–297. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.163089
- Acierno, R., Steedley, M., Hernandez-Tejada, M. A., Frook, G., Watkins, J., & Muzzy, W. (2020). Relevance of perpetrator identity to reporting elder financial and emotional mistreatment. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 39(2), 221-225. https://doi:10.1177/073346481877120
- Addington, L. A. (2013). Who You Calling Old? Measuring "Elderly" and What It Means for Homicide Research. Homicide Studies, 17(2), 134–153. doi:10.1177/1088767912461784
- Ahmed, A., Choo, W.-Y., Othman, S., Hairi, N. N., Hairi, F. M., Mohd Mydin, F. H., & Illiani Jaafar, S. N. (2016). Understanding of elder abuse and neglect among health care professionals in Malaysia: An exploratory survey. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 28(3), 163–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2016.1185985
- Alizadeh-Khoei, M., Sharifi, F., Hossain, S. Z., Fakhrzadeh, H., & Salimi, Z. (2014). Elder abuse: risk factors of abuse in elderly community-dwelling Iranians. *Educational gerontology*, *40*(7), 543-554.

- Alon, S., & Berg-Warman, A. (2014). Treatment and prevention of elder abuse and neglect: Where knowledge and practice meet—A model for intervention to prevent and treat elder abuse in Israel. *Journal of Elder Abuse* & *Neglect*, 26(2), 150-171. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2013.784087
- Angen, M. J. (2000). Evaluating interpretive inquiry: Reviewing the validity debate and opening the dialogue. *Qualitative health research*, *10*(3), 378-395. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973230001000308
- Aksan, N., Kısac, B., Aydın, M., & Demirbuken, S. (2009). Symbolic interaction theory. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *1*(1), 902-904. Doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2009.01.160
- Aziz, N. A. B., & Ahmad, Y. B. (2019). The evolution of government's attention towards older person: A critical review of Malaysia 5 years plan. *Ageing International*, *44*, 319-330.
- Aziz, N. A., Abdullah, R., Ibrahim, I., & Raof, N. A. (2021). Duty of paternal family members in the maintenance of children according to section 73 (2) of islamic family law (Selangor) enactment 2003. *IIUM Law Journal*, 29(S1)), 111-134. DOI: doi.org/10.31436/iiumlj.v29i(S1).638
- Bagshaw D., Wendt S., Zannettino L., & Adams V. (2013) Financial Abuse of Older People by Family Members: Views and Experiences of Older Australians and their Family Members, Australian Social Work, 66:1, 86-103, DOI: 10.1080/0312407X.2012.708762
- Barjose, N. M., & Aranas, M. A. A. (2016). Thematic analysis on older people understanding of elder abuse. *University of the Visayas-Journal of Research*, 10(1), 21-32.
- Bazeley, P. (2013). Qualitative data analysis: Practical strategies. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Beaulieu, M., Crevier, M., D'Amours, M., & Diaz, L. (2015). Financial exploitation of older women: A case analysis using the struggle for recognition theory. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 27(4–5) 489–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2015.1093990
- Benzies, K. M., & Allen, M. N. (2001). Symbolic interactionism as a theoretical perspective for multiple method research. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 33(4), 541-547. DOI: https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS110.1.19
- Belknap, J., Melton, H. C., Denney, J. T., Fleury-Steiner, R. E., & Sullivan, C. M. (2009). The levels and roles of social and institutional support reported by survivors of intimate partner abuse. *Feminist Criminology*, *4*(4), 377-402. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557085109344942

- Bidin, A., & Mohd Yusoff, J. Z. (2015). Experience of Domestic Abuse among Malaysian Elderly. *Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities*, 23.
- Borgatta, E.F., & Borgatta, M. L (Eds). (1992). Encyclopedia of Sociology (Vol. 4.). New york, NY Macmillan
- Bows, H. (2018). Practitioner views on the impacts, challenges, and barriers in supporting older survivors of sexual violence. *Violence Against Women*, 24, 1070–1090. https://doi.org10.1177/1077801217732348
- Blumer, H. (1986). Symbolic interactionism: Perspective and method. Univ of California Press.
- Brammer, A., & Biggs, S. (1998). Defining elder abuse. *The Journal of Social Welfare* & *Family Law*, *20*(3), 285-304. https://doi.org/10.1080/09649069808410253
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: experiments by nature and design.* Harvard University Press.
- Burnes, D., Lachs, M. S., Burnette, D., & Pillemer, K. (2017). Varying appraisals of elder mistreatment among victims: Findings from a population-based study. *The Journals of Gerontology:* Series B, 0, gbx005. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbx005
- Burmeister, E., & Aitken, L. M. (2012). Sample size: How many is enough? Australian Critical Care, 25, 271-274. doi:10.1016/j.aucc.2012.07.002
- Burnett, J., Jackson, S. L., Sinha, A. K., Aschenbrenner, A. R., Murphy, K. P., Xia, R., & Diamond, P. M. (2016). Five-year all-cause mortality rates across five categories of substantiated elder abuse occurring in the community. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 28(2), 59-75. /doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2016.1142920
- Cadmus, E. O., Owoaje, E. T., & Akinyemi, O. O. (2015). Older persons' views and experience of elder abuse in South Western Nigeria: a community-based qualitative survey. *Journal of aging and health*, 27(4), 711-729.
- Chang, J., & Moon, A. (1997). Korean American elderly's knowledge and perceptions of elder abuse: A qualitative analysis of cultural factors. *Journal of Multicultural Social Work*, 6(1-2), 139-154. https://doi.org/10.1300/J285v06n01 09
- Chang, E. S., & Levy, B. R. (2021). High prevalence of elder abuse during the COVID-19 pandemic: risk and resilience factors. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29(11), 1152-1159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2021.01.007

- Chane, S., & Adamek, M. (2015). "Death is better than misery:" Elders' accounts of abuse and neglect in Ethiopia. *International Journal of Aging & Human Development, 82,* 54-78. doi: 10.1177/0091415015624226
- Chane, S. and Adamek, M.E. (2015a). Factors contributing to elder abuse in Ethiopia, *The Journal of Adult Protection*, Vol. 17 No. 2, pp. 99-110. https://doi.org/10.1108/JAP-07-2014-0026
- Chompunud M.S., Charoenyooth C., Palmer MH, Pongthavornkamol K., Vorapongsathorn T., Jitapunkul S., (2010). Prevalence, Associated Factors and Predictors of Elder Abuse in Thailand. Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research. 14(4):283-96. https://he02.tci thaijo.org/index.php/PRIJNR/article/view/6266
- Chokkanathan, S. (2018). Prevalence and correlates of elder mistreatment in Singapore. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 30(4), 271-283. doi:10.1080/08946566.2018.1471433
- Chokkanathan, S., Natarajan, A., & Mohanty, J. (2014). Elder abuse and barriers to help seeking in Chennai, India: A qualitative study. *Journal of Elder Abuse* & *Neglect*, 26, 60–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2013.782786
- Chopik, W. J., Newton, N. J., Ryan, L. H., Kashdan, T. B., & Jarden, A. J. (2019). Gratitude across the life span: Age differences and links to subjective well-being. *The journal of positive psychology*, *14*(3), 292-302. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2017.1414296
- Conrad, K. J., Iris, M., Ridings, J. W., Fairman, K. P., Rosen, A., & Wilber, K. H. (2011). Conceptual model and map of financial exploitation of older adults. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 23(4), 304–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2011.584045
- Cooper, C., Selwood, A., & Livingston, G. (2009). Knowledge, detection, and reporting of abuse by health and social care professionals: a systematic review. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17*(10), 826-838. https://doi.org/10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181b0fa2e
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory into practice*, 39(3), 124-130. doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip3903_2
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches, 4th edn..Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2001). Handbook of qualitative research (2nd ed.). London: Sage Publications
- Creswell, J. W. (2018). *Five Aproaches in Qualitative Research -* (Fourth Edition). USA: Sage Publications.

- Davies, M. L., Gilhooly, M. L., Gilhooly, K. J., Harries, P. A., & Cairns, D. (2013). Factors influencing decision-making by social care and health sector professionals in cases of elder financial abuse. *European Journal of Ageing*, *10*(4), 313-323. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872810396256
- Davidson, S., Rossall, P., & Hart, S. (2015). Financial abuse evidence review. London: Age UK Research Available from Department of Health and Children (DOHC).https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/docum
- DeLiema, M., & Conrad, K. J. (2017). Financial exploitation of older adults. In *Elder abuse* (pp. 141-157). Springer, Cham. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-47504-2 8
- Department of Statistics, Malaysia. (2020). Population and Housing Census, Malaysia (Census 2020). Retrieved on 21 September 2021, from https://cloud.stats.gov.my/index.php/s/ppMYkLC4kyUzHKn#pdfviewer
- Department of Social Welfare. (2017, June 20). *Dasar Warga Emas Negara*. The National Policy for Older Persons. Retrieved May 20, 2018, from https://www.jkm.gov.my/jkm/index.php?r=portal/left&id=WjFUdFBURT V0Zis0N0NxYm05Qk9XQT09
- Dessin, C. L. (2003). Financial abuse of the elderly: is the solution problem. McGeorge Law Review, 34(2), 267-322.
- Dong, X., Simon, M., De Leon, C. M., Fulmer, T., Beck, T., Hebert, L., ... & Evans, D. (2009). Elder self-neglect and abuse and mortality risk in a community-dwelling population. *Jama*, *302*(5), 517-526. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1109
- Dong, X., Chang, E.-S., Wong, E., Wong, B., Simon, M. A. (2011). How do US Chinese older adults view elder mistreatment? Findings from a community-based participatory research study. Journal of Aging and Health, 23, 289-312. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264310385931
- Dong, X., Chen, R., Chang, E. S., & Simon, M. (2013). Elder abuse and psychological well-being: A systematic review and implications for research and policy-A mini review. *Gerontology*, *59*(2), 132-142.
- Du, P., Chen, Y. Prevalence of elder abuse and victim-related risk factors during the COVID-19 pandemic in China. *BMC Public Health* 21, 1096 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11175-z
- Enguidanos, S. M., DeLiema, M., Aguilar, I., Lambrinos, J., & Wilber, K. H. (2014). Multicultural voices: Attitudes of older adults in the United States of America about elder mistreatment. *Ageing & Society*, *34*(5), 877-903.

- Erlingsson, C. L., Saveman, B. I., & Berg, A. C. (2005). Perceptions of Elder Abuse in Sweden: Voices of Older Persons. *Brief Treatment & Crisis Intervention*, *5*(2).
- Ergin, F., Evci-Kiraz, E. D., Saruhan, G., Benli, C., Okyay, P., & Beser, E. (2012). Prevalence and risk factors of elder abuse and neglect in a western city of Turkey: a community based study. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brasov. Medical Sciences. Series* VI,5(2), 33.
- Filipska, K., Biercewicz, M., Wiśniewski, A., Jabłońska, R., Królikowska, A., Główczewska-Siedlecka, E., ... & Ślusarz, R. (2021). High Rate of Elder Abuse in the Time of COVID-19—A Cross Sectional Study of Geriatric and Neurology Clinic Patients. *Journal of clinical medicine*, *10*(19), 4532.
- Finlay, L (2002) Negotiating the Swamp: The Opportunity and Challenge of Reflexivity in Research Practice. Qualitative Research 2 (2) pp. 209–230. doi.org/10.1177/146879410200200205
- Foo Chung, Pazim, K. H., & Mansur, K. (2020). Ageing population: Policies and programmes for older people in Malaysia. *Asian Journal of Research in Education and Social Sciences*, 2(2), 92-96. Retrieved from https://myjms.mohe.gov.my/index.php/ajress/article/view/10227
- Ferreira, M. (2005). Elder abuse in Africa: What policy and legal provisions are there to address the violence? *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 16(2), 17–32. https://doi.org/10.1300/J084v16n02_02
- Flannery Jr, R. B., & Harvey, M. R. (1991). Psychological trauma and learned helplessness: Seligman's paradigm reconsidered. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 28(2), 374. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.28.2.374
- Fraga, S., Lindert J., Barros H., Torres-González F., , Ioannidi-Kapolou E., Melchiorre M.G., Stankunas M., Soares J. F., (2014). Elder abuse and socioeconomic inequalities: A multilevel study in 7 European countries. Preventive Medicine (61), 42-47,http://doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.01.008.
- Fraga D., S., Storey, J.E., & Glorney, E. (2019). Help-Seeking Behavior in Victims of Elder Abuse: A Systematic Review. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 22, 466 480. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838019860616
- Fraga Dominguez, S., Ozguler, B., Storey, J. E., & Rogers, M. (2021). Elder abuse vulnerability and risk factors: is financial abuse different from other subtypes?. *Journal of applied gerontology*, 07334648211036402. https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648211036402
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The qualitative report*, *20*(9), 1408.

- Gibson, S. C., & Greene, E. (2013). Assessing Knowledge of Elder Financial Abuse: A First Step in Enhancing Prosecutions. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 25(2), 162–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2013.751820
- Gil, A.P.M., Kislaya I., Santos A.J., Nunes B., Nicolau R., Fernandes A.A., (2015). Elder Abuse in Portugal: Findings From the First National Prevalence Study, *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 27:3, 174-195, DOI: 10.1080/08946566.2014.953659
- Gil, A. P., Santos, A. J., & Kislaya, I. (2017). Self-reporting by older adults as victims of violence in Portugal: The remaining taboo issue. In M. Husso, T. Virkki, M. Notko, H. Hirvonen, & J. Eilola (Eds.), Interpersonal violence: Differences and connections (pp. 170–184). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gilhooly, M. L. M., Cairns, D., Davies, M., Harries, P., Gilhooly, K. J., & Notley, E. (2013). Framing the detection of financial elder abuse as bystander intervention: Decision cues, pathways to detection and barriers to action. *The Journal of Adult Protection*, 15(2), 54–68. https://doi.org/10.1108/14668201311313578
- Gilhooly, M. M., Dalley, G., Gilhooly, K. J., Sullivan, M. P., Harries, P., Levi, M., Kinnear, D.C., Davies, M. S. (2016). Financial elder abuse through the lens of the bystander intervention model. *Public Policy & Aging Report*, 26(1), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/prv028
- Giorgi, A. (Ed.). (1985). Phenomenological and psychologocal research. Pittsburg, PA: Duquesne University Press.
- Giorgi, A. (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach, Pittsburg, PA: Duquesne University Press.
- Goodkind, J. R., Gillum, T. L., Bybee, D. I., & Sullivan, C. M. (2003). The impact of family and friends' reactions on the well-being of women with abusive partners. *Violence against women*, *9*(3), 347-373. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801202250083
- Giraldo-Rodríguez, L., & Rosas-Carrasco, O. (2013). Development and psychometric properties of the Geriatric Mistreatment Scale. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 13, 466–474. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00894.x
- Golding, J. M., Hodell, E. C., Dunlap, E. E., Wasarhaley, N. E., & Keller, P. S. (2013). When a Son Steals Money From His Mother: Courtroom Perceptions of Elder Financial Exploitation. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 25(2), 126–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2013.751816

- Hafemeister, T. L. (2003). Financial abuse of the elderly in domestic settings. *Elder mistreatment: Abuse, neglect, and exploitation in an aging America*, 382-445.
- Hedayat-Diba, Z. (2014). Psychotherapy with Muslims. In P. S. Richards & A. E. Bergin (Eds.), Handbook of psychotherapy and religious diversity (pp. 287–317). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/14371-012
- Jackson, S. L., & Hafemeister, T. L. (2011). Financial abuse of elderly people vs. other forms of elder abuse: Assessing their dynamics, risk factors, and society's response. *Final Report Presented to the National Institute of Justice*.
- Jackson, S. L., & Hafemeister, T. L. (2012). Pure financial exploitation vs. hybrid financial exploitation co-occurring with physical abuse and/or neglect of elderly persons. *Psychology of Violence*, 2(3), 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027273.
- Jackson, S. L., & Hafemeister, T. L. (2015). The impact of relationship dynamics on the detection and reporting of elder abuse occurring in domestic settings. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 27(2), 121–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2015.1008085
- Jackson, S. L. (2015). The vexing problem of defining financial exploitation. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 22(1), 63–78. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-05-2014-0026
- Jackson, S. L. (2016). All elder abuse perpetrators are not alike: The heterogeneity of elder abuse perpetrators and implications for intervention. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 60(3), 265-285. doi.org/10.1177/0306624X14554063
- Janoff-Bulman, R. (1979). Characterological versus behavioral self-blame: Inquiries into depression and rape. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 37, 1798–1809.
- Jasper, M. A. (2005). Using reflective writing within research. *Journal of research in nursing*, *10*(3), 247-260. doi.org/10.1177/174498710501000303
- Jayamanogaran T. (2020, August 25). Bukit Aman: Bukan isteri, tapi kes dera ibu bapa meningkat semasa PKP. Malay Mail. Retrieved November 13, 2020, from https://www.projekmm.com/news/berita/2020/08/25/bukit-aman-bukan-isteri-tapi -kes-dera-ibu-bapa-meningkat-semasa-pkp/1897024
- Jeon, G. S., Cho, S. I., Choi, K., & Jang, K. S. (2019). Gender differences in the prevalence and correlates of elder abuse in a community-dwelling older population in Korea. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *16*(1), 100.

- Jervis L. L., Sconzert-Hall W., & The Shielding American Indian Elders Project Team (2017) The conceptualization of mistreatment by older American Indians, *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 29:1, 43-58, DOI: 10.1080/08946566.2016.1249816
- Jusoh, A. J., Mahmud, Z., & Ishak, N. M. (2008). The patterns of reality therapy usage among Malaysian counselors. *International Journal of Reality Therapy*, 28(1), 5-14.
- Kaspiew, R., Carson, R., & Rhoades, H. (2016). *Elder abuse: Understanding issues, frameworks and responses*. Australian Institute of Family Studies.. https://aifs.gov.au/sites/default/files/rr35-elder-abuse.pdf
- Kaspiew, R, Carson, R., & Rhoades, H. (2016a). Elder abuse in Australia. *Family Matters*, 1999(98), 64–73.
- Kaspiew, R., Carson, R., & Rhoades, H. (2018). Elder abuse. Commonwealth Government of Australia. Retrieved from Australian Institute of Family Studies Website: https://aifs.gov.au/publications/elder-abuse/export.
- Kemp, B. J., & Mosqueda, L. A. (2005). Elder financial abuse: An evaluation framework and supporting evidence. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(7), 1123–1127. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53353.x
- Killick, C., Taylor, B. J., Begley, E., Carter Anand, J., & O'Brien, M. (2015). Older People's Conceptualization of Abuse: A Systematic Review. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 27(2), 100–120.
- Kissal, A., & Beşer, A.,(2011) Elder Abuse and Neglect in a Population Offering Care by a Primary Health Care Center in Izmir, Turkey, *Social Work in Health Care*, 50:2,158-175, DOI:10.1080/00981389.2010.527570
- Knight, B. G., Kim, S., Rastegar, S., Jones, S., Jump, V., & Wong, S. (2016). Influences on the perception of elder financial abuse among older adults in Southern California. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 28(01), 163–169. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610215000587
- Kua, E. H., & Ko, S. M. (1992). A questionnaire to screen for cognitive impairment among elderly people in developing countries. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 85(2), 119-122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1992.tb01454.x
- Koenig, H. G. (1998). Religious attitudes and practices of hospitalized medically ill older adults. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, *13*(4), 213-224. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1166(199804)13:4<213::AID-GPS755>3.0.CO;2-5
- Lachs MS, Pillemer K. (2004) Elder abuse. Lancet 2004;364:1263-1272. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(04)17144-4

- Lafferty, A., Treacy, M. P., & Fealy, G. (2013). The support experiences of older people who have been abused in Ireland. *The Journal of Adult Protection*, *15*, 290–300. https://doi.org/10.1108/JAP-02-2013-0007
- Laumann, E. O., Leitsch, S. A., & Waite, L. J. (2008). Elder mistreatment in the United States: Prevalence estimates from a nationally representative study. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 63(4), S248-S254.
- Lawlerrow, K. A., and Piferi, R. L. (2006). The forgiving personality: Describing a life well lived? *Personal. Indiv. Diff*41, 1009–1020. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2006.04.007
- LeCompte, M.D., & Goetz, J. P. (1982). Problems of reliability and validity in ethnographic research. Review of Educational Research, 51, 31-60. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543052001031
- Lee, H. Y., & Eaton, C. K. (2009). Financial abuse in elderly Korean immigrants: Mixed analysis of the role of culture on perception and help-seeking intention. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 52, 463–488.
- Lee, H. Y., Yoon, H. S., Shin, N., Moon, J.Y., Kwon, J. H., Park, E. S., Nam, R., Kang, S.B., & Park, K. H. (2011). Perception of elder mistreatment and its link to help-seeking intention. A comparison of elderly Korean and Korean American immigrants. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *34*(4), 287–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2011.573407
- Lee, H. Y., Lee, S. E., & Eaton, C. K. (2012). Exploring definitions of financial abuse in elderly Korean immigrants: The contribution of traditional cultural values. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, *24*(4), 293–311. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2012.661672
- Lee Y.S., Kaplan C.P., & Perez-Stable E.J. (2014) Elder Mistreatment among Chinese and Korean Immigrants: The Roles of Sociocultural Contexts on Perceptions and Help- Seeking Behaviors, *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment* & *Trauma,* 23:1, 20-44, DOI: 10.1080/10926771.2014.864741
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Lowenstein, A., Eiskovits, Z., Band-Winterstein, T. and Enosh, G. (2009). Is elder abuse and neglect a social phenomenon? Data from the first national prevalence survey in Israel. Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect, 21, 253–277. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946560902997629
- Lowndes, G. J., Darzins, P. J., Wainer, J., Owada, K., & Mihaljcic, T. (2009). Financial Abuse of Elders: A Review of the Evidence (Protecting Elders' Assets Study). Monash Institute of Health Services Research.

- Manthorpe, J., Samsi, K., & Rapaport, J. (2012). Responding to the financial abuse of people with dementia: a qualitative study of safeguarding experiences in England. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(09), 1454–1464. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610212000348
- Mardan, H., Jaehnichen, G., & Hamid, T. A. (2014). Is self neglect associated with the emotional and financial abuse in community-dueling. *IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science (IOSRJNHS)*, 3(3), 51-56.
- Merriam-Webster. (1982). Eurocentric. InMerriam-Webster.com dictionary. Retrieved March 21, 2022, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/Eurocentric
- Mickley, J. R., Pargament, K. I., Brant, C. R., & Hipp, K. M. (1998). God and the search for meaning among hospice caregivers. *The Hospice Journal*, 13(4), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/0742-969X.1998.11882904
- Mihaljcic T., Lowndes G., (2013) Individual and Community Attitudes Toward Financial Elder Abuse, *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 25:2, 183-203, DOI: 10.1080/08946566.2012.712867
- Miller, W. R., & Seligman, M. E. (1975). Depression and learned helplessness in man. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *84*(3), 228. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076720
- Miskovi, K. (2014). Preventing financial abuse of people with dementia. Sydney: Alzheimers Australia NSW. Retrieved from <nsw.fightdementia. org.au/sites/default/files/20140618-NSW-Pub-DiscussionPaperFinancialAbuse.pdf>.
- Mohd Yusoff, J. Z. (2009). Jenayah dalam keluarga: Penderaan dan pengabaian warga tua di Malaysia. https://repo.uum.edu.my/id/eprint/1144
- Mohideen, F. A., & Khokhlova, O. (2022). Elder financial abuse based on victim—perpetrator relationship as perceived by Asian young adults. *Family Relations*. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12665
- Moon, A. (2000). Perceptions of elder abuse among various cultural groups: Similarities and differences. *Generations: Journal of the American Society on Aging*, 24(2), 75-80. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44878446
- Morse, J.M.(1994). Designing Funded Qualitative Research. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research (pp.220-235). Thousand Oaks, CA:Sage
- Moskowitz, S. (1998). Saving granny from the wolf: Elder abuse and neglect—the legal framework. *Connecticut Law Review*, *31*,77
- Moustakas, Clark (1994). Phenomenological Research. USA. Sage Publication

- Mowlam, A., Tennant, R., Dixon, J., & McCreadie, C. (2007). *UK study of abuse and neglect of older people: Qualitative findings*. King's College London and the National Centre for Social Research.
- Mysyuk, Y., Westendorp, R. G., & Lindenberg, J. (2016). Older persons' definitions and explanations of elder abuse in the Netherlands. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 28, 95–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2015.1136580
- Mysyuk, Y., Westendorp, R. G., & Lindenberg, J. (2016a). Perspectives on the etiology of violence in later life. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *31*(18), 3039-3062. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515584338
- Naughton, C., Drennan, J., Lyons, I., & Lafferty, A. (2013). The relationship between older people's awareness of the term elder abuse and actual experiences of elder abuse. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 25, 1257–1266. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610213000513
- Nelissen, M.A.R., & Zeelenberg, M. (2009). When guilt evokes self-punishment: Evidence for the existence of a Dobby Effect. Emotion, 9, 118–122
- Nieswiadomy, R.M. (1993). Foundation of nursing research (2nd ed). Norwalk, CT: Appleton & Lang
- O. Harrison, M., Koenig, H. G., Hays, J. C., Eme-Akwari, A. G., & Pargament, K. I. (2001). The epidemiology of religious coping: A review of recent literature. *International review of psychiatry*, 13(2), 86-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540260124356
- Orimo, H., Ito, H., Suzuki, T., Araki, A., Hosoi, T., & Sawabe, M. (2006). Reviewing the definition of "elderly". *Geriatrics & gerontology international*, 6(3), 149-158. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2006.00341.x
- O'Shaughnessy, J. (1992). *Explaining buyer behaviour: central concepts and philosophy of science issues*. Oxford University Press
- Oyewuwo-Gassikia, O. B. (2016). American Muslim women and domestic violence service seeking: A literature review. *Affilia*, 31(4), 450-462. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109916654731
- Oyewuwo, O. B. (2020). Black Muslim Women's Use of Spirituality and Religion as Domestic Violence Coping Strategies. *Journal of Muslim Mental Health*, 14(1). DOI: https://doi.org/10.3998/jmmh.10381607.0014.101
- Palansamy, Yiswaree (2019, September 23). *DPM: Govt Mulling New Law in 2021 to Protect Elderly from Abuse, Neglect*. Retrieved December 12, 2019, from https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2019/09/23/dpm-govt-mulling-new-law-in-2021-to-protect-elderly-from-abuse-neglect/1793395.

- Patel, K., Bunachita, S., Chiu, H., Suresh, P., & Patel, U. K. (2021). Elder Abuse: A Comprehensive Overview and Physician-Associated Challenges. *Cureus*, *13*(4). DOI: 10.7759/cureus.14375
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Two decades of developments in qualitative inquiry. Qualitative Social Work: Research & Practice, 1(3), 261–283. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325002001003636
- Petrusic, N., Todorovic, N., Vracevic, M., & Jankovic, B. (2015). Financial abuse of older women in Serbia. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 27(4–5), 410–421. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2015.1094300
- Phelan, A., McCarthy, S., & McKee, J. (2018). Safeguarding staff's experience of cases of financial abuse. *British Journal of Social Work*, *48*(4), 924-942. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcy038
- Phelan, A., & O'Donnell, D. (2020). An ecological perspective on elder abuse interventions. In *Advances in Elder Abuse Research* (pp. 193-221). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25093-5_14
- Pillemer, K., Burnes, D., Riffin, C., & Lachs, M. S. (2016). Elder abuse: Global situation, risk factors, and prevention strategies. *The Gerontologist*, 56, S194–S205. doi:10.1093/geront/gnw004
- Ploeg, J., Lohfeld, L., & Walsh, C. A. (2013). What Is "Elder Abuse"? Voices From the Margin: The Views of Underrepresented Canadian Older Adults. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 25(5), 396–424. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2013.780956
- Quinn, M. J., & Tomita, S. K. (1997). *Elder abuse and neglect: Causes, diagnosis, and interventional strategies*, 2nd edn, Springer Publishing Company.
- Rabiner, D. J., Brown, D., & O'Keeffe, J. (2004). Financial exploitation of older persons: Policy issues and recommendations for addressing them. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 16(1), 65–84. https://doi.org/10.1300/J084v16n01_04
- Rabiner, D. J., O'Keeffe, J., & Brown, D. (2005). A conceptual framework of financial exploitation of older persons. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 16(2), 53–73. https://doi.org/10.1300/J084v16n02_05
- Rabiner, D. J., O'Keeffe, J., & Brown, D. (2006). Financial exploitation of older persons. *Journal of Aging & Social Policy*, 18(2), 47–68. https://doi.org/10.1300/J031v18n02_04
- Ribot, V. C., Rousseaux, E., Garcia, T. C., Arteaga, E., Ramos, M. E., & Alfonso, M. (2015). Psychological the most common elder abuse in a Havana neighborhood. *MEDICC Review*, *17*, 39–43.

- Rina, K., Maiti, T., Panigrahi, M., Patro, B., Kar, N., & Padhy, S. K. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown on elder abuse. *J Geriatric Care Res*, 7(3), 103-7. https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/65321923/Journal_of_Geriatric_Care_and_Research_2020_12-with-cover-page-
- Roberto, K. A. (2016). The complexities of elder abuse. *American Psychologist*, 71(4), 302–311. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0040259
- Roepke-Buehler, S. K., Simon, M., & Dong, X. (2015). Association between depressive symptoms, multiple dimensions of depression, and elder abuse: A cross-sectional, population-based analysis of older adults in urban Chicago. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 27(6), 1003-1025. doi.org/10.1177/0898264315571106
- Sanchez, Y. M. (1997). Distinguishing cultural expectations in assessment of financial exploitation. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 8(2), 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1300/J084v08n02_05
- Sanchez, Y. M. (1999). Elder mistreatment in Mexican American communities: The Nevada and Michigan experiences. In T. Tatara (Ed.), Understanding elder abuse in minority populations (pp. 67–77). Philadelphia: Brunner/Mazel.
- Santos, A. J., Nunes, B., Kislaya, I., Gil, A. P., & Ribeiro, O. (2017). Exploring the Correlates to Depression in Elder Abuse Victims: Abusive Experience or Individual Characteristics?. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1, 20. //doi.org/10.1177/0886260517732346
- Schiamberg, L. B., & Gans, D. (2000). Elder abuse by adult children: An applied ecological framework for understanding contextual risk factors and the intergenerational character of quality of life. *The International Journal of Aging & Human Development*, 50(4), 329–359. https://doi.org/10.2190/DXAX-8TJ9-RG5K-MPU5
- Segal, M., Doron, I., & Mor, S. (2021). Consumer fraud: Older people's perceptions and experiences. *Journal of Aging & Social Policy*, 33(1), 1-21. DOI: 10.1080/08959420.2019.1589896
- Sembiah, S., Dasgupta, A., Taklikar, C. S., Paul, B., Bandyopadhyay, L., & Burman, J. (2020). Elder abuse and its predictors: a cross-sectional study in a rural area of West Bengal, eastern part of India. *Psychogeriatrics*, 20(5), 636-644.
- Setterlund, D., Tilse, C., Wilson, J., McCawley, A. L., & Rosenman, L. (2007). Understanding financial elder abuse in families: The potential of routine activities theory. *Ageing & Society*, 27(4), 599–614. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X07006009

- Sherina, M. S., Rampal, L., & Mustaqim, A. (2004). Cognitive impairment among the elderly in a rural community in Malaysia. *Medical Journal of Malaysia*, 59(2), 252-257.PMID: 15559177
- Schuessler, Z. (2022). Nurses' Role in Identifying Elder Financial Abuse. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *53*(1), 30-34. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20211210-08
- Sooryanarayana, R., Choo, W. Y., Hairi, N. N., Chinna, K., & Bulgiba, A. (2015). Insight into elder abuse among urban poor of Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia—a middle-income developing country. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *63*(1), 180-182
- Sooryanarayana, R., Choo, W. Y., Hairi, N. N., Chinna, K., Hairi, F., Ali, Z. M., ... & Bulgiba, A. (2017). The prevalence and correlates of elder abuse and neglect in a rural community of Negeri Sembilan state: baseline findings from The Malaysian Elder Mistreatment Project (MAESTRO), a population-based survey. *BMJ open*, 7(8), e017025.
- Sooryanarayana, R., Ganapathy, S. S., Wong, N. I., Rosman, A., Choo, W. Y., & Hairi, N. N. (2020). Elder abuse: Nationwide findings among community-dwelling Malaysian older persons. *Geriatrics & gerontology international*, *20*, 85-91. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.13989
- Souto, R. Q., Merighi, M. A. B., Guruge, S., & Jesus, M. C. P. (2015). Older Brazilian women's experience of psychological domestic violence: A social phenomenological study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *14*, 44–50. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-015-0173-z
- Stake, R. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Stryker, S. (1968). Identity salience and role performance: The relevance of symbolic interaction theory for family research. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 558-564.
- Swingewood, A. (1991). A short history of sociological thought. New York, NY: Knopf
- Tan, C. J. A., Choo, W. Y., M. Hairi, N. N., Abd. Hamid, A. I., (2020). Voices of Older Adults: Understanding the Meaning of Elder Financial Abuse and Exploitations in a Malaysian Rural Community. ASM Science Journal., 13, Special Issue 5, 2020 for APRU 2018, 156- 161
- Tamutiene, I., De Donder, L., Penhale, B., Lang, G., Ferreira-Alves, J., & Luoma, M-L. (2013). Help seeking behaviour of abused older women: Cases of Austria, Belgium, Finland, Lithuania and Portugal. Filosofija Sociologija, 24(4), 217-225. https://repositorium.sdum.uminho.pt/bitstream/1822/27691/1/Helpseeking217-225%203.pdf

- Tatara, T. (Ed.). (1999). *Understanding elder abuse in minority populations*. Psychology Press.
- Tey, N. P., & Tengku Aizan, H. (2014). Economic status of older men and women in Malaysia. In T. W. Devasahayam (Ed.), Gender and aging: Southeast Asian Perspectives (pp. 267–287). Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies.
- Thomas, J. (1993). Doing critical ethnography. Newbury park, CA: Sage.
- Tey, N. P., Siraj, S. B., Kamaruzzaman, S. B. B., Chin, A. V., Tan, M. P., Sinnappan, G. S., & Müller, A. M. (2016). Aging in multi-ethnic Malaysia. *The Gerontologist*, 56(4), 603-609. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnv153
- Tilse, C., Wilson, J., Setterlund, D., & Rosenman, L. (2005). Older people's assets: a contested site 1. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 24, S51-S56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-6612.2005.00101.x
- United Nations. (2017). World population ageing 2017 highlights, ST/ESA/SER.A/397. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA2017 Highlights.pdf
- van Manen, M., 1990. Researching Lived Experience: Human Science for an Action Sensitive Pedagogy. Althouse Press, Ontario.
- Vrantsidis, F., Dow, B., Joosten, M., Walmsley, M., & Blakey, J. (2016). *The older person's experience: Outcomes of interventions into elder abuse*. National Ageing Research Institute and Seniors Rights Victoria
- Wendt S., Bagshaw D., Zannettino L., & Adams V. (2015). Financial Abuse of Older People: A Case Study, *International Social Work*, Vol. 58(2) 287–296 DOI: 10.1177/0020872813477882
- Wilber, K. H. (1990). Material abuse of the elderly: When is guardianship a solution?. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 2(3-4), 89-104. //doi.org/10.1300/J084v02n03 06
- Wilber, K. H., & Reynolds, S. L. (1997). Introducing a framework for defining financial abuse of the elderly. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 8(2), 61–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494813503055
- Winterstein, T., & Eisikovits, Z. (2005). The experience of loneliness of battered old women. *Journal of Women & Aging*, 17(4), 3-19. DOI: 10.1300/j074v17n04_02

- Wilson, Jill; Tilse, Cheryl; Setterlund, Deborah; Rosenman, Linda (2009). Older People and Their Assets: A Range of Roles and Issues for Social Workers. Australian Social Work, 62(2), 155–167. doi:10.1080/03124070902748894
- World Health Organization. (2019). *World population ageing: Highlight*, https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/ WorldPopulationAgeing2019-Highlights.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Elder abuse*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/elder-abuse
- Wydall, S., & Zerk, R. (2017). Domestic abuse and older people: Factors influencing help-seeking. *The Journal of Adult Protection*, 19, 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1108/JAP-03-2017-0010
- Yan, E., Chan, K. L., & Tiwari, A. (2015). A systematic review of prevalence and risk factors for elder abuse in Asia. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 16*(2), 199-219.
- Yan, E. (2015). Elder abuse and help-seeking behavior in elderly Chinese, Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 30, 2683–2708. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514553628
- Yon, Y., Mikton, C. R., Gassoumis, Z. D., & Wilber, K. H. (2017). Elder abuse prevalence in community settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*, 5(2), e147-e156. doi:10.1016/s2214-109x(17)30006-2
- Wilber, K. H., & Reynolds, S. L. (1997). Introducing a framework for defining financial abuse of the elderly. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 8(2), 61–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494813503055
- Wolf, R. S., & Pillemer, K. (2000). Elder abuse and case outcome. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *19*(2), 203-220. https://doi.org/10.1177/073346480001900206
- Yunus, R. M. (2021). The under-reporting of elder abuse and neglect: a Malaysian perspective. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 33(2), 145-150.https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2021.1919271
- Yunus, R. M., Hairi, N. N., Choo, W. Y., Hairi, F. M., Sooryanarayana, R., Ahmad, S. N. Abdul Razak, I., Peramalah, D., Abdul Aziz, S., Mohammad, Z.L., Mohamad, R., Mohd Ali, Z. & Bulgiba, A. (2017). Mortality among elder abuse victims in rural Malaysia: A two-year population-based descriptive study. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, *29*(1), 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2016.1260083

- Yunus, Raudah Mohd, Nik Nairan Abdullah, and Muhammad Abbas M. Firdaus. "Elder abuse and neglect in the midst of COVID-19." *Journal of global health* 11 (2021). doi: 10.7189/jogh.11.03122
- Zaharah, S., Jamaluddin, B., Chuan, G. C., & Taher, M. A. (2015). Strategies in the prevention or reduction of elder abuse in Bangladesh and Malaysia. *Procedia—Social & Behavioral Sciences*, 172, 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.333
- Zannettino, L., Bagshaw, D., Wendt, S., & Adams, V. (2015). The role of emotional vulnerability and abuse in the financial exploitation of older people from culturally and linguistically diverse communities in Australia. *Journal of elder abuse & neglect*, 27(1), 74-89. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872813477882